





FDC/DAD, 2008 WL 1721891, at *5 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2008) (concluding, inter alia, that
negligent~inﬂiction-of-emolional-distress claim was a preempted derivative claim); /n re Sulzer
Hip Prosthesis & Knee Prosthesis Liab. Litig., 455 F. Supp. 2d 709, 720 n.13 (N.D. Ohio 2006)
(recognizing that claim for medical monitoring is simply a request for injunctive relief and s
preempted if the underlying substantive claims are preemptled). Plaintiffs’ derivative-claims are
preempted under § 360k.

B. Plaintiffs’ Claims Do Not Avoid Preemption Because They Do Not Fit

Within the Narrow Parallel-State-Law Claim Exception to § 360k
Preemption and Are Preempted by 21 U.S.C. § 337(a)

“State requirements are pre-empted under the MDA only to the extent that they are
‘different from, or in addition 10" the requirements imposed by federal law.” Riegel, 128 S.Ct. at
1011 (quoting 21 U.S.C. § 360k(a)(1)). Accordingly, “§ 360k does not prevent a State from
providing a damages remedy for claims premised on a violation of FDA regulations; the state
duties in such a case ‘parallel,’ rather than add to, federal requirements.” Jd (quoting Lohr, 518
U.S. at 495). “To €scape preemption by § 360k(a) . . . a state-law claim must be premised on the
breach of a state-law duty that is the same as a duty imposed under the FDCA (or one of its
implementing regulations.” Riley, 625 F. Supp. 2d at 776. Plaintiffs argue that all of their claims
are parallel common-law claims so are not subject to preemption under § 360k. Medtronic
counters Plaintiffs’ parallel-claim argument with another preemption-based argument focused on
the preemptive effect of 21 U.S.C. § 337(a), which provides that all actions to enforce the FDCA
“shall be by and in the name of the United States.” 21 U.S.C. § 337(a). Medtronic argues that
Plaintiffs’ purportedly paralle] claims seek to do nothing more than enforce the FDCA and its
implementing regulations, and, thus, Plaintiffs lack standing to bring such claims, which are

impliedly preempted by § 337(a). See Buckman, 531 U.S. at 349.



The United States Supreme Court has recognized that “[t]he FDCA leaves no doubt that
it is the Federal Government rather than private litigants who are authorized to file suit for
noncompliance with the medical device provisions.” Buckman Co., 531 U.S. at 349. There is no
private right of action under § 337(a). Id. The FDA has sole and exclusive authority to enforce
the FDCA and its implementing regulations and claims predicated upon injuries alleged to have
arisen from violation of those regulations are preempted. See Flynn v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.,
627 N.W.2d 342, 349 (Minn. Ct. App. 2001) (“[The existence of state-law claims against
applicants for, and recipients of, FDA drug approval for alleged violation of FDA regulations
conflicts with the FDA s authority to consistently police fraud within the agency’s powers.”).?2
The FDA’s exclusive authority extends to all actions “to enforce MDA premarket approvals.”
See Clark v. Medtronic, Inc., 527 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1095 (D. Minn. 2008). Insofar as Plaintiffs
seek to predicate their “paralle]” common-law claims upon alleged violations of the FDCA and
its implementing regulations, such claims are preempted under Buckman.

In trying to save their claims from preemption under § 360k, Plaintiffs repeatedly point to
alleged violations by Medtronic of its reporting obligations to the FDA under the PMA and the
Conditions of Approval and argue that their state-law claims merely paralle] these obligations.
(See, e.g., Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. 19 160, 188, 198, 205-06, 212-17, 226, 230-31, 233-35, 239,
243,248, 251, 280, 288,295, 316, 329, 333.) However, “it is nonsensical to speak of a state-law
claim for *failure to follow the conditions of the PMA” in the absence of the federal regulatory
structure that provides for that PMA . . . under the logic of Buckman, any such state-law claim

would be preempted.” Riley, 625 F.Supp.2d at 789-90; see also Lake v. Kardjian, 874 N.Y.S.3d

* Insofar as Plaintiffs’ fraud or misrepresentation claims are predicated upon alleged misrepresentations or
omissions made by Medtronic to the FDA, such claims are necessarily preempted by Flynn and Buckman, (oA
Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. 9 267; 277, 280, 285, 295, 316, 322, 329.)
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751, 755 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2008) (holding that the failure to comply with the MDA’s reporting
requirements does not constitute a parallel claim that would escape preemption under Riegel).
The MDL Plaintiffs made similar arguments in the MDL proceedings where they were rejected
by the MDL Court, which noted that “what Plaintiffs are really alleging is that Medtronic
violated the FDCA by failing to inform the FDA in a timely fashion of adverse lead events” and
held that such claims were necessarily preempted under Buckman. [n re Sprint Fidelis Leads I,
592 F. Supp. 2d at 1160-61- (¢f. Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. § 29 (“Medtronic failed to comply with
the [FDCA] and the regulations in its filing for and response to inquiries made by the FDA as
part of the PMA Supplement process.”). Plaintiffs have presented no basis for this Court to
deviate from that conclusion in these proceedings. Any claims predicated upon alleged
violations by Medtronic to submit reports required by the FDA are not parallel claims that avoid
preemption under Riegel and Buckman.

Applying these principles, the Court concludes that none of Plaintiffs’ claims are parallel
common-law claims that avoid preemption under both § 360k and § 337(a).

1. Plaintiffs’ Claims Predicated Upon Medtronic’s Alleged

Failure to Warn Are Not Parallel Claims and Are Preempted
Under § 337(a)

Absent a federal requirement, there can be no parallel claim that avoids preemption. Cf
Riegel, 128 S.Ct. at 1011 (recognizing the parallel-claim exception arises for state-law
requirements mirroring federal requirements). Plaintiffs have not identified a federal
requirement mandating Medtronic to make changes to the Leads’ warnings upon which they
could bootstrap a parallel failure-to-warn claim. Instead, Plaintiffs merely cite to 2] C.F.R. §

814.39(d), which, as explained in greater detail above,? simply permits a device manufacturer to

3 See supra § IV.A.2.
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make changes to approved labeling without receiving pre-approval from the FDA . “As other
courts have explained, a failure-to-warn clajm cannot parallel § 814.39(d) because § 814.39(d)
merely permits a device manufacturer to make a temporary change to a label whereas a
successful failure-to-warn claim would require such a change.” Riley, 625 F.Supp.2d at 783
(emphasis original); see also In re Sprint Fidelis Leads [, 592 F. Supp. 2d at 1160 (holding that a
claim under § 814.39 is not a parallel claim because § 814.39°s language is permissive and not
mandatory and. thus, a common-law duty mandating supplemental warnings is an impermissible
state-law requirement preempted by § 360k). Plaintiffs’ failure-to-warn claims do not fit within
the parallel-claim exception recognized by Riegel and remain preempted.

Insofar as Plaintiffs’ failure-to-warn claims are predicated upon alleged violations of the
Leads’ Conditions of Approval or applicable federal regulations or upon Medtronic’s alleged
failure to advise the FDA about the dangerous nature of the Leads, such claims are preempted
under Buckman. See Webster v, Paceserter, Inc., 259 F. Supp. 2d 27, 39 (D.D.C. 2003) (holding
that claims that “if defendant had adhered to MDA requirements regarding record-keeping,
adverse incident reporting, investigation, monitoring and complaint file maintenance, the
[medical device] would have been recalled or placed on alert notice and plaintiff would not have
been injured” as “precisely the type of claim barred by the Supreme Court” in Buckman). As
Medtronic notes, for a jury to pass on the sufficiency of a medical-device manufacturer’s
disclosures to the FDA would impermissibly usurp the agency’s exclusive authority to enforce
the provisions of the FDCA and its implementing regulations. (See Defs.” Mem. at 22)
Applying Buckman, the MDL Court already rejected Plaintiffs’ argument that Medtronic’s
preemption defense is defeated because the failure to increase warnings was in violation of the

Sprint Fidelis Leads’ Conditions of Approval. In re Sprint Fidelis Leads 1, 592 F. Supp. 2d at



1160-61. This Court agrees that such allegations are nothing more than allegations “that
Medtronic violated th'e FDCA by failing to inform the FDA in a timely fashion of adverse lead
events.” /d at 1160; (¢/. Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. €9 160, 188 (predicating failure-to-warn claims
upon allegations that “Medtronic failed to advise the FDA what it knew about the dangerous
nature of the Sprint Fidelis Leads™).) However, a claim predicated upon such allegations fails as
a matter of law because there is no private right of action to enforce the FDCA. 21 U.S.C. §
337(a); Buckman, 531 U.S. at 349 n.4 (“[T]he FDCA leaves no doubt that it is the Federal
Government rather than private litigants [which is] authorized to file suit for noncompliance with
the medical device provisions” in the FDCA.”). Plaintiffs’ failure-to-warn claims are not parallel
common-law claims preserved from preemption under Riegel.

2. Plaintiffs’ Claims Predicated Upon Alleged Design and

Manufacturing Defects Are Not Parallel Claims and Are
Preempted Under § 337(a)

Plaintiffs seek to avoid the preemptive effect of § 360k by arguing that their
manufacturing-defect claims are simply parallel common-law claims preserved by Riegel.
Plaintiffs rest this argument upon their allegations that the “Leads did not conform with
applicable specifications, including the FDA’s requirements.” (Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 37; see
also Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. 49 42-52.) More specifically, Plaintiffs allege that the welding
techniques Medtronic used in manufacturing the Leads and that the company’s quality assurance
protocols were inadequate and in violation of the FDA’s Current Good Manufacturing Practices
(“CGMPs™) and Quality System Regulations (“QSRs™). (Jd. 9 113-20; 197; 205-07.) Plaintiffs
argue that their defective manufacturing claims do nothing more than parallel these federal
requirements, and are, thus, preserved from preemption under Riegel.

As a matter of law, Plaintiffs’ defective-manufacturing claims are not saved by their

assertions that these claims are predicated on violations of the CGMPs and QSR requirements.
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The regulatory framework imposed by the CGMPs and QSRs “leave[s] it up to the manufacturer
to institute a quality control system specific to the medical device it produces to ensure that such
device is safe and effective.” Horowirz, 613 F. Supp. 2d at 279; see also Medical Devices;
Current Good Manufacturing Practice (CGMP) Final Rule; Quality System Regulation, 61 Fed.
Reg. 52,602, 52.603 (Oct. 7.1996) (cxplaining the CGMPs and the QSR framework and
repeatedly highlighting the fact that the system is “flexible” and provides manufacturers with
substantial discretion). The FDA guidelines set forth in the CGMPs and QSRs “are simply too
generic, standing alone, to serve as the basis for Plaintiffs’ manufacturing defect claims.” Inre
Sprint Fidelis Leads I, 592 F. Supp. 2d at 1158. Given the flexibility inherent in this system,
Plaintiffs cannot show that Medtronic’s chosen welding techniques violated the CGMPs and
QSRs; such claims are not parallel claims because they are not predicated upon a violation of a
federal requirement.24 1d.: see also United States v. Utah Med. Prods., Inc., 404 F. Supp. 2d
1315, 1324 (D. Utah 2005) (refusing to sanction medical-device manufacturer for alleged
violations of the CGMPs and QSRs and noting, because of the inherent flexibility of the
regulatory scheme, “[t]he fact that the road chosen by [a device manufacturer] may be different
in degree than that thought to be appropriate by a regulator does not mean that it is wrong, or in
violation of the regulations”); United States v. Laerdal Mfg. Corp., 853 F. Supp. 1219, 1227 (D.
Or. 1994) (“[T]he GMP regulations do not prescribe each particular step required of [a
manufacturer] in order for it to comply with these regulations.”). Furthermore, the issue of
compliance with the CGMPs is “a matter properly left to determination by the FDA” rather than

by a court or jury. See Unired States v. W. Serum Co., 498 F. Supp. 863, 867 (D. Ariz. 1980);

2 The inherent flexibility of the CGMPS and QSRs also dooms Plaintiffs’ claims that alleged violations of this
regulatory scheme can form the basis of a valid claim for negligence per s€ because no mandatory statutory or
regulatory duty was breached by Medtronic. See In re Sprint Fidelis Leads I, 592 F. Supp. 2d at 1163.



see also Nat'l Ass 'n of Pharm. Mfrs. v. Food & Drug Admin., 497 F. Supp. 412,416 (S.D.N.Y.
1980) (“[W]e believe that a binding definition of good manufacturing practices is just the sort of
regulatory arca best left to the expertise of the FDA.™).

Plaintiffs next try to preserve their defective-design claims by arguing that Medtronic was
negligent in continuing to sell the Leads as initially approved by the FDA, after Medtronic
received approval from the agency in the summer of 2007 for what Plaintiffs claim was a safer
alternative design for the Leads. (Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 39 (citing Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. §
89).) Plaintiffs argue that such a claim is a parallel claim preserved from preemption because it
is *wholly consistent with the FDA’s approval of Medtronic’s altered design for the Leads.”
(Id)) However, this argument ignores the fact that this claim is wholly inconsistent with the
FDA's approval of the earlier design as safe and effective. See, e.g.,21 U.S.C. §§
360e(d)(2)(A), (B). Plaintiffs cite no case, statute, or regulation supporting the proposition that
approval of a subsequent design for a device mandates removal of previously approved devices
from the market. Cf 21 U.S.C. § 360e(e) (setting forth requirements for withdrawal of approval
from a previously approved device).

Plaintiffs also allege what they term “parallel claims” against Medtronic for failing to
submit PMA supplements for every change made by Medtronic to the manufacturing processes
for the Leads. (See, e.g., Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. 1 30-41 (claiming that Medtronic violated 1ts
duty to submit PMA Supplements when it made changes to the Leads’ manufacturing
processes).) Plaintiffs fail to cite any law to support their position that Medtronic was required
to file a PMA Supplement modifying the Leads once it became aware of increases in the

incidence of adverse effects.”® (See Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 39.); cf. In re Sprint Fidelis Leads I,

25 A< Medtronic notes, the FDA did question Medtronic’s failure to submit a PMA supplement related to post-cure
time and temperature for insulation in the Leads after they were withdrawn from the market. (Bebeau 2d Am.



592 F. Supp. 2d at 1162 (noting that the MDL Plaintiffs had failed to support this exact same
assertion in response to Medtronic’s motion to dismiss all claims in the MDL proceedings).
Indeed, the regulations governing the PMA process specifically permit manufacturers to make
certain changes to manufacturing processes without submitting PMA Supplements. See 21
C.F.R. § 814.39(b) (recognizing that a medical-device manufacturer may make a change to
manufacturing processes “without submitting a PMA supplement if the change does not affect
the device's safety or effectiveness and the change is reported to FDA in postapproval periodic
reports”). Furthermore. claims predicated upon the alleged failure to submit PMA Supplements
to the FDA do not seek to enforce any common-law duty but instead seek nothing more than to
enforce the FDCA’s implementing regulations, a duty which is left solely to the FDA under 21
U.S.C. § 337(a). Inre Sprint Fidelis Leads 1, 592 F. Supp. 2d at 1162.2° Private litigants, like
Plaintiffs. lack standing to bring such claims. See Delaney, 2009 WL 564243, at * 4 (D.N.I.
Mar. 5, 2009) (“[A]ny changes not submitted to FDA for PMA review would constitute a
violation of the MDA or rather the FDCA, which the Supreme Court has made clear does not

constitute a private right of action.”).

Compl. §40.) However, this does not cure the defects in Plaintiffs’ pleadings; Plaintiffs have not pleaded any
connection with this alleged violation of a federal requirements and their alleged injuries. Cf Covert, 2009 WL
2424559, at *14 (dismissing purported paraliel claims when the pleading failed to allege “whether or how the
alleged [regulatory] violations related[d] to [plaintiff’s] alleged injuries™); Rollins v. St. Jude Med., 583 F. Supp. 2d
790, 803 (W.D. La. 2008) (dismissing claim for failure to include information in FDA reports where there was no
“allegation as to how this alleged failure, standing alone, caused [the complained-of] injuries”). Similarly, Plaintiffs
have not alleged any connection between their allegations regarding problems with the sterilization system at
Medtronic’s Villalba facility and their claimed injuries. (Cf. Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. § 45-52.)

% In their memorandum in opposition to Medtronic’s motion, Plaintiffs set forth a litany of alleged failures of
Medtronic to comply with the regulatory requirements imposed on it under the FDCA. (See Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at
6-7 (alleging violation of the Conditions of Approval by failing to submit PMA Supplements for subsequent changes
to the design or manufacture of the Leads); at 11-12 (detailing alleged failures by Medtronic related to their post-
approval reporting to the FDA). Insofar as Plaintiffs argue that such violations form the basis of their “parallel”
common-law claims, such argument necessarily fails because enforcement of regulatory violations as alleged lies
solely with the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 337(a). See Kemp v. Medtronic, Inc., 231 F.3d at 236 (“States are not
granted any authority to enforce compliance with the specific federal requirements established by the PMA
process.”).
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Finally, Plaintiffs argue that their defective-manufacturing claims are parallel claims
preserved under Riegel because they allege that the Leads are defective in that they were
adulterated under 21 U.S.C. § 351(f). (Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 33; see also Bebeau 2d Am.
Compl. ¥ 245.) However, “[Plaintiffs] . . . cannot escape preemption by reference to provisions
of the FDCA that govern the sale of adulterated and misbranded devices because there is no
private right of action under the FDCA.” Parker., 584 F. Supp. 2d at 1301 (citing 21 U.S.C. §
337); Gile v. Optical Radiation Corp., 22 F.3d 540, 544 (3d Cir. 1994) (“[O]nly the government
has a right to take action with respect to adulterated products.™. “To recognize an exception to
the usual scope of federal preemption concerning Class 11T devices for products purported to be
adulterated would, in effect. be to create a private right of action under the MDA,” a result which
is specifically barred by Buckman. See Talbottv. C.R. Bard, Inc., 865. F. Supp. 37, 50 (D. Mass.
1994).

Plaintiffs’ defective-manufacturing and defective-design claims are not parallel common-
law claims that avoid preemption under § 360k.

3. Plaintiffs’ Alleged Negligence Per Se Claims Are Not Parallel
Claims and Are Preempted Under § 337(a)

Plainti{fs argue that their negligence per se claims are parallel common-law claims that
survive preemption.27 As Medtronic notes, this argument ignores the fact that negligence per se
claims predicated upon alleged violations of the FDCA or its implementing regulations are
nothing more than an attempt to take an impermissible end-run around Buckman’s limitations on
standing. See, e.g., Mitaro, 2009 WL 1272398, at * 4 (holding that negligence per se claim is

“preempted under 21 USC § 337(a) which provides that all proceedings to enforce or to restrain

7 (See Bebeau 2d Am. Compl. Counts VIII-IX; Manning Compl. Count [V; Morrison Compl. Counts VIII-IX;
Eschete 1st Supp. & Am. Compl. Counts VIII-1X; Joest Am. Compl. Counts VIII-IX; Florence 1st Am. Compl.
Counts VIII-IX; Diamond Compl. Counts VILI-IX; Bowie Am. Compl. Counts VIII-IX.)
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violations of the FDCA are in the domain solely of the federal government™); see also Cupek v.
Medtronic, Inc., 405 F.3d 421, 424 (6th Cir. 2005) (affirming denial of leave to amend to replead
negligence per se claim predicated upon violation of Conditions of Approval on grounds of
futility because such a claim is a disguised fraud-on-the-FDA claim preempted under Buckman),
In re Sprint Fidelis Leads 1. 592 F. Supp. 2d at 1163 (recognizing that the MDL Plaintiffs’
claims for negligence per se predicated upon claimed violations of the FDCA's prohibition on
selling misbranded or adulterated medical devices were preempted under 21 U.S.C. § 337(a) and
Buckman). Where a statute expressly precludes a private right of action to enforce its provisions,
litigants cannot avoid these limits by crafting negligence per se claims for violation of the
statutory scheme. See Alumbaugh v. Union Pac. R. Co., 322 F.3d 520, 524 (8th Cir. 2003) (“For
a negligence per se claim to succeed, it must be shown that the legislature intended to create a
private right of action in favor of the class of persons to which the plaintiff belongs for violation
of the statute.”); see also Meyer v. Lindala, 675 N.W.2d 635, 641 (Minn. Ct. App. 2004)
(holding that where statute does not create a private cause of action violation of that statute could
not be evidence of negligence per se). As recognized by the MDL Court, “‘[t]he negligence per
se doctrine . . . is not a magic transforming formula that automatically creates a private right of
action for the civil enforcement, in tort law, of every statute.” In re Sprint Fidelis Leads I, 592
F. Supp. 2d at 1163 (quoting Talley v. Danek Med., Inc., 179 F.3d 154, 158 (4th Cir.1999)). Asa

matter of law, Plaintiffs negligence per se claims are preempted under 21 US.C. § 337(a).®

2 plaintiffs’ negligence per se claims fail for the separate and independent reason that the regulatory provisions
upon which they are predicated do not define an applicable standard of care owed to the public but instead impose
administrative requirements upon medical-device manufacturers. See Talley, 179 F.3d at 159 (“Where a statutory
provision does not define a standard of care but merely imposes an administrative requirement, such as the
requirement to obtain a license or to file a report to support a regulatory scheme, violation of such requirement will
not support a negligence per se claim.”); see also King v. Danek Med., Inc., 37 S.W .3d 429, 453-60 (Tenn. Ct. App.
2000) (same).
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V. Conclusion
Because the Court concludes that all of Plaintiffs’ claims are preempted under federal
law,?? Medtronic’s Motion to Dismiss Representative Cases is granted. All claims raised in the

Representative Cases are dismissed with prejudice.30

2 Medtronic moved to dismiss certain claims in the Representative Cases on grounds unique to the individual
Plaintiffs in each case. Because the Court’s ruling on the issue of preemption is dispositive of Plaintiffs’ claims, the
Court does not pass on the merits of Medtronic’s non-preemption-based arguments.

3 The Court’s dismissal is with prejudice. Prior to hearing this motion, Plaintiffs in the Companioned Cases were
given time to serve and file any amended Complaints in the Companioned Cases. In addition, Plaintiffs’ counsel in
the Companioned Cases were involved in the proceedings before the MDL Court and, thus, had nearly 2 years to
craft their pleadings. Accordingly, the Court believes that dismissal with prejudice of these claims is appropriate.
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